Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology 270 (2013) 39-44

Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect



Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/ytaap



# Invited Review Article Mitochondrial dysfunction and organophosphorus compounds

# Somayyeh Karami-Mohajeri <sup>a,b</sup>, Mohammad Abdollahi <sup>a,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Toxicology and Pharmacology, Faculty of Pharmacy, and Pharmaceutical Sciences Research Center, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran <sup>b</sup> Department of Toxicology and Pharmacology, Faculty of Pharmacy, and Pharmaceutical Sciences Research Center, Kerman University of Medical Sciences, Kerman, Iran

# ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 27 February 2013 Revised 25 March 2013 Accepted 1 April 2013 Available online 8 April 2013

Keywords: Evidence-based medicine Mechanistic toxicology Mitochondrial metabolism Organophosphorus Oxidative stress Pesticide

# ABSTRACT

Organophosphorous (OPs) pesticides are the most widely used pesticides in the agriculture and home. However, many acute or chronic poisoning reports about OPs have been published in the recent years. Mitochondria as a site of cellular oxygen consumption and energy production can be a target for OPs poisoning as a non-cholinergic mechanism of toxicity of OPs. In the present review, we have reviewed and criticized all the evidences about the mitochondrial dysfunctions as a mechanism of toxicity of OPs. For this purpose, all biochemical, molecular, and morphological data were retrieved from various studies.

Some toxicities of OPs are arisen from dysfunction of mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation through alteration of complexes I, II, III, IV and V activities and disruption of mitochondrial membrane. Reductions of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) synthesis or induction of its hydrolysis can impair the cellular energy. The OPs disrupt cellular and mitochondrial antioxidant defense, reactive oxygen species generation, and calcium uptake and promote oxidative and genotoxic damage triggering cell death via cytochrome C released from mitochondria and consequent activation of caspases. The mitochondrial dysfunction induced by OPs can be restored by use of antioxidants such as vitamin E and C, alpha-tocopherol, electron donors, and through increasing the cytosolic ATP level. However, to elucidate many aspect of mitochondrial toxicity of Ops, further studies should be performed.

© 2013 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

# Contents

Introduction	39
Methods	40
Findings and discussion	40
Electron supplying pathways	40
Respiratory chain enzymes	40
Mitochondrial respiration.	40
ATP synthesis, ATP hydrolysis and ATP levels.	40
Oxidative stress	41
Mitochondrial membrane changes	42
Calcium uptake	42
Mitochondrial-dependent apoptotic pathways	42
Morphological evidences	43
Conclusion	43
Conflict of Interest	43
Acknowledgments	43
References	43

# \* Corresponding author at: Department of Toxicology and Pharmacology, Faculty of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences Research Center, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran 1417614411, Iran. Fax: +98 21 66959104.

# Introduction

Organophosphorous (OPs) compounds are widely used in the insect control and are the oldest chemicals used as warfare nerve agents (Goel and Aggarwal, 2007; Moshiri et al., 2012). The well-known primary action mechanism of these compounds is inhibition of acetylcholinesterase

*E-mail addresses*: Mohammad.Abdollahi@UToronto.Ca, Mohammad@TUMS.Ac.Ir (M. Abdollahi).

<sup>0041-008</sup>X/\$ – see front matter @ 2013 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2013.04.001

(AChE) enzyme but other mechanisms such as effect on metabolism of lipid, carbohydrate, and protein and induction of oxidative stress have been proposed (Abdollahi et al., 2004; Karami-Mohajeri and Abdollahi, 2011). The OPs intoxication evolves in three phases including acute cholinergic crisis, intermediate syndrome (IMS), and OPs-induced delayed neuropathy (OPIDN). A recent review also indicated that exposure to OPs has direct relation with incidence of human chronic debilitating diseases (Mostafalou and Abdollahi, 2013). Furthermore, studies suggest involvement of mitochondrial dysfunction following exposure to OPs both in vivo and in vitro as a non-cholinergic target for OPs. Mitochondria have a significant role in production of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) and the reactive oxygen species (ROS) and also promotion of cell death (Dikalov, 2011; Marchi et al., 2012). Mitochondrial injuries can cause multisystem disorders involving different cells, tissues, and organs. Therefore, mitochondrial damage is the major factor in hepatic, cardiovascular, neurodegenerative, and inflammatory etiology (Abdollahi and Karami-Mohajeri, 2012; Ando and Wakamatsu, 1985; Bayrami et al., 2012; Binukumar et al., 2010; Kaur et al., 2007). The electron leakage from the mitochondrial respiratory chain by production of ROS causes oxidative damage (Brookes, 2005). The oxidative damage changes mitochondrial proteins, lipids and DNA which causes bioenergetics disorders and induction of cell death (Kirkinezos and Moraes, 2001; Kroemer, 1999; Moreno et al., 2007). The mitochondrial functional and structural shifts following the events like apoptosis and necrosis can lead to cytotoxicity via change in the cellular respiration and energy production. Recent interests have focused on a possible role of mitochondrial dysfunction in the OPs toxicity; these toxins can change mitochondrial respiration and respiratory chain enzymes activity (Shabarchin et al., 1979; Spetale et al., 1977; Yamano and Morita, 1993) and energy production (Binukumar et al., 2010; Chan et al., 2006; Massicotte et al., 2005; Shafiee et al., 2010; Venkatesh et al., 2009). For this purpose, we decided to review the effect of OPs exposure on the mitochondrial respiratory complexes I, II, III, IV, and V, oxidative stress, calcium uptake, ATP generation, and mitochondrial-dependent cell death pathways.

# Methods

We searched literature including PubMed, Google Scholar, and Scopus for the period of 1970 to 2013. The main keywords of the search were "organophosphate", "organophosphorus", and "mitochondria" with no limitation in the type or date of publication. We limited the search to authentic papers published in English language. Additional papers were retrieved from the reference lists of the found publications.

# **Findings and discussion**

#### Electron supplying pathways

As depicted in Fig. 1, electrons flow from nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NADH) (deriving from tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle) and from flavin adenine dinucleotide (FADH2) (resulting from succinate and glycerol phosphate pathways) through the electron transport chain (Krauss, 2001). To provide energy and due to depletion of ATP and low blood glucose, the activity of glutamate dehydrogenase (GLDH) is elevated to increase the level of alpha-ketoglutarate in TCA cycle. Induction of the activity of this enzyme has been reported after acute administration of diazinon (1-25% LD<sub>50</sub>), and after acute and subchronic exposure to malathion (0.1-0.3% LD<sub>50</sub>) in the Langerhans islets with a dose-dependent manner (Jamshidi et al., 2009; Panahi et al., 2006). The GLDH can affect the cellular glutamate and glutathione levels and consequently affect oxidative stress. Malathion in chronic exposure increased hexokinase (HK) activity in the brain mitochondria in 1% of LD<sub>50</sub> and phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase (PEPCK) in the hepatic cells in 0.1% of LD<sub>50</sub> (Azadbar et al., 2009; Basiri et al., 2007). HK and PEPCK are important enzymes in catabolism of ATP and glucose and also in production of pyruvate (Danial et al., 2003). The TCA cycle pathway was also inhibited through suppression of succinate, alpha-glycerophosphate, pyruvate oxidation in isolated liver mitochondria, respectively, exposed to 100, 75, and 50 µg/mg of ethaphos (Holmuhamedov et al., 1996).

### Respiratory chain enzymes

The mitochondrial electron transport chain contains the enzyme complexes such as complexes I, II, III, and IV. Flow of electron through the respiratory chain enzymes causes electrochemical proton gradient used for production of ATP (Pon and Schon, 2001). There are several reports about effect of OPs on the activity of these complexes that has been summarized in Table 1. Acute exposure of pheochromocytoma cell lines to mevinphos led to depletion of NADH cytochrome C reductase (NCCR) (Complexes I and III), succinate cytochrome C reductase (SCCR) (Complexes II and III), and cytochrome C oxidase (CCO) (Complex IV) with dose and time-dependent manner (Chan et al., 2006). Inhibition of NCCR and CCO was also indicated in a study on the rostral ventrolateral medulla of heart with unchanged SCCR activity (Yen et al., 2004). The activity of CCO and other enzymes of this chain such as NADH dehydrogenase (Complexe I) and succinate dehydrogenase (Complexe II) were also inhibited in cortex, cerebellum, and brain stem of acutely monocrotophos-and dichlorvos-treated animals (Masoud et al., 2009). Inhibition of NADH dehydrogenase, succinate dehydrogenase (Moreno and Madeira, 1990), and CCO activities also occurred in liver and brain mitochondria of rats exposed to dichlorvos and parathion (Binukumar et al., 2010; Kaur et al., 2007). Triorthocresyl phosphate (TOCP) and metaphos can also reduce the brain mitochondrial succinate dehydrogenase and heart mitochondrial NADH2 oxidase in the chronic exposure (Shabarchin et al., 1979; Xin et al., 2011). The reduction of complex II activity in most of above mentioned studies was lower than that of complex I, III, and IV. The pathways involved in the bioenergetic failure are mainly linked to NADH and in lower extent to FAD. Contrary to the above mentioned studies, two reports showed no change in the activity of complex IV in muscle mitochondria of rats exposed to monocrotophos and the activity of the respiratory chain cytochromes of liver mitochondria exposed to ethaphos (Holmuhamedov et al., 1996; Venkatesh et al., 2009).

# Mitochondrial respiration

The mitochondrial respiration rate can be calculated using an oxygraph electrode. The increase of oxygen after addition of ADP referred to state III respiration and state IV occurs after phosphorylation of all the ADP to ATP in slower rate. The phosphorylation efficiency of mitochondria inferred from ratios of state III to state IV respiration (RCR) and ATP to oxygen consumption (ADP/O) was decreased by parathion (Moreno and Madeira, 1990). In another study, respiration rate and RCR ratio were not altered significantly in rats exposed to monocrotophos (Venkatesh et al., 2009). The rat hepatic mitochondrial states III and IV of respiration were reduced in chronic dichlorvos exposure (Binukumar et al., 2010). Reduction of state III can cause high ADP/O ratio and change the ADP/O ratio. The findings reveal interaction with the mitochondrial respiratory complexes that can be further supported by assessment of ATP synthase and ATPase activities.

# ATP synthesis, ATP hydrolysis and ATP levels

Inhibition of ATP synthesis due to an altered activity of mitochondrial complexes with induction of ATP hydrolysis can impair the generation of cellular energy. ATP synthase activity (Complex V) was inhibited in muscular and hepatic mitochondria by monocrotophos and parathion (Moreno and Madeira, 1990; Venkatesh et al., 2009). In a chronic exposure, dichlorvos reduced the ATP synthesis and elevated hydrolysis of ATP in rat hepatic mitochondria (Binukumar et al., 2010). The production of ATP was decreased in chick embryo neuronal cultures of dorsal



**Fig. 1.** Diagrammatic representation of effect of the organophosphorouses (OPs) compounds on mitochondrial bioenergetic and apoptotic pathways. The inhibited and induced pathways are shown, respectively, by red and green arrows. Altogether, it can be concluded that inhibition of respiratory chain complexes with effect on tricarboxylic acid cycle pathways are in association to depletion of cellular energy. Induction of mitochondrial-dependent oxidative stress and apoptosis are other mechanisms for OPs exposure. Abbreviation: flavin adenine dinucleotide (FADH2), Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NADH), Phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase (PEPCK), Phosphoenolpyruvate (PEP), Coenzyme Q (Co Q), Mitochondrial transmembrane potential ( $\Delta \Psi m$ ), Apoptotic protease activating factor 1 (APAF 1), Glutathione peroxidase (GPx), Superoxide dismutase (SOD).

root ganglia (DRG) treated with phenyl saligenin phosphate (PSP), mipafox, and paraoxon. PSP and paraoxon also decreased ATP production in human neuronal cell lines (Massicotte et al., 2005). Acute exposure to metaphos, malathion, cortical neurons, and chlorpyrifos decreased ATP production and affected ADP/ATP ratio in the heart rostral ventrolateral medulla, heart tissue, and pheochromocytoma cell line (Chan et al., 2006; Li et al., 2005; Middlemore-Risher et al., 2011; Shafiee et al., 2010). The ATP depletion can be restored by addition of electron donors such as ascorbate-N,N,N',N'-tetramethyl-p-phenylenediamine and magnesium-carrying nanoparticle that contribute in ATP synthesis or release pathways (Holmuhamedov et al., 1996; Shafiee et al., 2010). In this regard, Holmuhamedov et al. (1996) reported the inhibitory effect of ethaphos on the activity of mitochondrial ATPase.

#### Oxidative stress

Complex I and complex III of the electron transport chain are the major sites for production of ROS, which these radicals scavenged by the manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD) to produce  $H_2O_2$ . Mitochondrial protein, lipids, and DNA can be damaged by overproduction of ROS in the mitochondria and microsomes (Brookes, 2005). Since mitochondria of mammalian cells, except rat heart mitochondria do not contain catalase (Radi et al., 1991), glutathione peroxidase (GPx) and MnSOD are the only factors in detoxifying ROS. The GPx by oxidation of glutathione (GSH) can convert  $H_2O_2$  to water (Marchi et al., 2012). Change of this enzyme can disturb mitochondrial antioxidant system as observed in OPs-exposed cases. For example, the activity of MnSOD,

#### Table 1

Change in the mitochondrial respiratory chain enzymes activities after organophosphorous exposure.

Study	Exposure type	OPs type	OPs dose	Assessment time	Tissue/cell	Respiratory chain enzymes activities					
						NCCR	SCCR	NDH	SDH	CCO	ATP synthase
(Yen et al., 2004)	Acute	Mevinphos	10 nmol	80-100 min	Medulla	>50.0% ↓	N/C	-	-	>70.0%↓	-
					Heart	N/C	N/C	-	-	N/C	-
(Chan et al., 2006)	Acute	Mevinphos	0.4 & 4 µmol	1 h	PC12 cells	50.0% ↓	11.0% ↓			>25.0% ↓	
				3 h	PC12 cells	65.0% ↓	22.5% ↓	-	-	>50.0% ↓	-
(Kaur et al., 2007)	Chronic	Dichlorvos	6 mg/kg/day	After 12 weeks	Brain	-	-	59.0% ↓	56.0% ↓	43.0% ↓	-
(Venkatesh et al., 2009)	Acute	Monocrotophos	14.4 mg/kg	Immediately after treatment	Muscle	-	-	-	-	N/C	55.0% ↓
(Masoud et al., 2009)	Acute	Monocrotophos	20 mg/kg	After 28 days	Cortex	-	-	54.6% ↓	29.4% ↓	33.3% ↓	-
					Cerebellum	-	-	21.4% ↓	37.3% ↓	20.7% ↓	-
					Brain stem	-	-	27.2% ↓	43.4% ↓	12.6% ↓	-
		Dichlorvos	200 mg/kg		Cortex	-	-	47.7% ↓	20.5% ↓	14.9% ↓	-
					Cerebellum	-	-	33.8% ↓	31.4% ↓	15.8% ↓	-
					Brainstem	-	-	24.3% ↓	34.5% ↓	40.0% ↓	-
(Binukumar et al., 2010)	Chronic	Dichlorvos	6 mg/kg/day	After 12 weeks	Liver	-	-	59.0% ↓	56.0% ↓	43.0% ↓	40.0% ↓
(Xin et al., 2011)	Acute	TOCP	750 mg/kg	1 days	Cerebellum	_	-	_	N/C	_	_
				5 days	Cerebellum	-	-	-	N/C	-	-
				15 days	Cerebellum	-	-	-	16.8% ↓	-	-
				21 days	Cerebellum	-	-	-	30.7% ↓	-	-
				1 days	Spinal cord	-	-	-	N/C	-	-
				5 days	Spinal cord	-	-	-	28.0%↓	-	-
				15 days	Spinal cord	-	-	-	42.1% ↓	-	-
				21 days	Spinal cord	-	-	-	25.0% ↓	-	-

Data are presented as the percent of control.

Abbreviations: Organophosphorous (OPs), NADH cytochrome C reductase (NCCR), succinate cytochrome C reductase (SCCR), cytochrome C oxidase (CCO), NADH dehydrogenase (NDH), Succinate dehydrogenase (SDH), Triorthocresyl phosphate (TOCP), and No change (N/C).

GPx, and catalase were increased in the heart tissue of endosulfan-treated rats (Kalender et al., 2004a). Although chronic exposure to malathion in brain mitochondria enhanced lipid peroxidation (LPO), the activity of GPx and MnSOD, and also protein expression of MnSOD but the GSH/ GSSG ratio was reduced (Azadbar et al., 2009; Ranjbar et al., 2010). Elevation of the mitochondrial antioxidant defense can compensate the elimination of oxidative damage. Furthermore, dichlorvos increased the mitochondrial ROS production and decreased activity of MnSOD and level of glutathione in the brain mitochondria that caused oxidation of mitochondrial DNA (Kaur et al., 2007; Wani et al., 2011). Mitochondrial ROS accumulation in the liver was also shown in dichlorvos-exposed animals (Binukumar et al., 2010). These oxidative damages were restored by vitamin E, MitoQ, alpha-tocopherol, and pentoxifylline (a phosphodiesterase 5 inhibitor) (Azadbar et al., 2009; Kalender et al., 2004a, 2005; Kaur et al., 2007; Ranjbar et al., 2010; Wani et al., 2011). Disorder of cellular antioxidant defense system is a trigger for promotion of cell death signaling.

# Mitochondrial membrane changes

Evaluation of mitochondrial membrane potential that was altered by OPs allows determining the site of action of OPs on the mitochondrial respiratory chain. Acute mevinphos exposure caused a progressive reduction in mitochondrial membrane potential in pheochromocytoma cells (Chan et al., 2006). A concentration-dependent decrease of membrane potential was also observed in cortical neuron of chlorpyrifos and its metabolite chlorpyrifos-oxon (5.0 nM–20.0  $\mu$ M)-treated rats (Middlemore-Risher et al., 2011). Mitochondrial permeability and membrane potential, respectively, was increased and decreased in both cerebrum and spinal cord of animals chronically exposed to high dose of TOCP (Xin et al., 2011). Membrane potential was reduced in human neuroblastoma cells incubated with triorthotolyl phosphate and parathion and caused mitochondrial hyperpolarization that gradually depolarized (Carlson and Ehrich, 1999; Moreno and Madeira, 1990). Contrary to the above mentioned studies, one study showed that ethaphos has no changes in the inner membrane permeability due to unchanged activity of the respiratory chain cytochromes (Holmuhamedov et al., 1996).

# Calcium uptake

The mitochondria rapidly accumulate and slowly release calcium for maintaining a certain threshold concentration of cytosolic calcium. Altered mitochondrial calcium concentration leads to impaired ROS and energy production. Inappropriate opening of the permeability transition pore of the inner mitochondrial membrane due to different stimuli can increase calcium penetration (Binukumar et al., 2010; Murphy and Porter, 1966). The increase of calcium by muscle, liver, and brain mitochondria was inhibited in monocrotophos and dichlorvos chronic exposure and was altered normal calcium signaling (Binukumar et al., 2010; Kaur et al., 2007; Venkatesh et al., 2009).

#### Mitochondrial-dependent apoptotic pathways

The mitochondria induce cell death signals by interaction between production of ROS and increase of calcium. Mitochondrion mediates the apoptosis via translocation of proapoptotic protein (bax) and cytochrome C proteins between the cytoplasm and mitochondria and subsequent activation of caspase cascade. Apoptotic cell death was induced in lymphocytic leukemia cell line via activation of caspase 9 and caspase 3 and translocation of cytochrome C and bax by paraoxon (the bioactive metabolite of parathion) (Saleh et al., 2003). Short-term exposure of hepatocytes to trichlorfon caused cytochrome C release from mitochondria and result in the activation of caspase 3 (Xu et al., 2009). The same happened in the rat brain by use of dichlorvos (Kaur et al., 2007). Protein and mRNA expressions of apoptotic factors such as caspase 3, caspase 9, bax, p53, and cytochrome C were uncontrolled, whereas the levels of anti-apoptotic factors (bcl2 and Mcl1) were controlled in pheochromocytoma cells exposed to selected dose of monocrotophos. In addition to the above results, DNA laddering and micronuclei were also reported following translocation of bax and cytochrome C (Kashyap et al., 2010). Low-level long-term diclorovos exposure finally caused over-expression of caspase 3 and

caspase 9 proteins in endometrium tissue (Oral et al., 2006). Trichlorfon and methylobromofenvinphos in liver cells induced apoptosis through nuclear shrinkage, cell membrane rupture, cytoskeletal collapse, loss of cytoplasm, and the mitochondrial vacuolization (Chishti and Rotkiewicz, 1992; Xu et al., 2009).

# Morphological evidences

After acute exposure to chlorpyrifos, the number of mitochondria was decreased and a dose-dependent increase in mitochondrial length occurred (Middlemore-Risher et al., 2011). Liver mitochondrial vacuolization of goldfish was reported in acute exposure to trichlorfon (Xu et al., 2009). Damage of cristae and swelling of mitochondria was also reported in hepatocytes of diazinon-treated rats (Kalender et al., 2005). Chronic exposure to dichlorvos caused aggregation of mitochondria in cerebellum and spinal cord (Hasan et al., 1979) and swelling of mitochondria, loss of cristae and chromatin condensation in the brain (Wani et al., 2011). Swelling of mitochondria and dissolution of mitochondrial matrix have been also reported in Langerhans islet and myocardial cells chronically exposed to endosulfan (Kalender et al., 2004a,b). TOCP also caused mitochondrial vacuolation and disorder in the nervous system (Xin et al., 2011). Unlike above mentioned studies, there is no report of mitochondrial swelling in muscular cells of rats exposed to monocrotophos (Venkatesh et al., 2009).

# Conclusion

In the present comprehensive review, all available data about mitochondrial abnormalities following exposure to OPs are gathered as summarized in the Fig. 1. Mitochondrial disorders in association with all type of OPs pesticides with different potency and different doses were reported and finally a descriptive evaluation of results was performed. Some of OPs toxicities are arisen from dysfunction of mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation through reduction of complexes I, II, III, IV and V activities and ATP synthesis, induction of ATP hydrolysis, and impairment of the mitochondrial membrane potential. In addition, by elevation of mitochondrial ROS generation, the OPs disrupt the cellular and mitochondrial antioxidant defense and promote oxidative damage and cell death. The OPs induce the mitochondrial-dependent apoptosis and structural shifts in the cell and mitochondrial membrane integrity. Another mechanism by which OPs induce cell death signals is defect in increase of the mitochondrial calcium. These findings clearly indicate that the mitochondrial-dependent apoptosis occurs through translocation of cytochrome C and consequent stimulation of caspase3 in OPs exposure. All cells need mitochondria for a steady energy supply; thus any mitochondrial dysfunction would cause a multisystem disorder. Notably, compared with Schwann and heart cells, some cells are more prone to effects of OPs such as neuronal cells (Massicotte et al., 2005; Yen et al., 2004). It can be concluded that in addition to AChE activity inhibition, disruption of mitochondrial homeostasis and metabolism, as an important early subcellular target of OPs compounds, can lead to induction of neuromuscular disorders that occurs in IMS and OPIDN. Fortunately, the OPs-induced mitochondrial dysfunctions can be prevented by amelioration of oxidative damage using antioxidant compounds such as vitamin E and C, alphatocopherol. Electron and ATP donors can restore mitochondrial function through increasing the cellular energy. Major limitation for quantitative evaluation of data reported in this review was differences in OPs doses and exposure patterns that may cause different results. Certainly, more organized studies are still needed to elucidate various aspects of mitochondrial toxicity by OPs compounds and performance of a quantitative analysis.

# **Conflict of Interest**

The authors declare conflict of interest.

# Acknowledgments

This paper is the outcome of an in-house financially non-supported study. Authors thank assistance of INSF.

# References

- Abdollahi, M., Karami-Mohajeri, S., 2012. A comprehensive review on experimental and clinical findings in intermediate syndrome caused by organophosphate poisoning. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 258, 309–314.
- Abdollahi, M., Ranjbar, A., Shadnia, S., Nikfar, S., Rezaie, A., 2004. Pesticides and oxidative stress: a review. Med. Sci. Monit. 10, RA141–RA147.
- Ando, M., Wakamatsu, K., 1985. Effects of the insecticide acephate on electron transfer in bovine heart mitochondria. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 14, 535–540.
- Azadbar, M., Ranjbar, A., Hosseini-Tabatabaei, A., Golestani, A., Baeeri, M., Sharifzadeh, M., Abdollahi, M., 2009. Interaction of phosphodiesterase 5 inhibitor with malathion on rat brain mitochondrial-bound hexokinase activity. Pestic. Biochem. Physiol. 95, 121–125.
- Basiri, S., Esmaily, H., Vosough-Ghanbari, S., Mohammadirad, A., Yasa, N., Abdollahi, M., 2007. Improvement by Satureja khuzestanica essential oil of malathion-induced red blood cells acetylcholinesterase inhibition and altered hepatic mitochondrial glycogen phosphorylase and phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase activities. Pestic. Biochem. Physiol. 89, 124–129.
- Bayrami, M., Hashemi, T., Malekirad, A.A., Ashayeri, H., Faraji, F., Abdollahi, M., 2012. Electroencephalogram, cognitive state, psychological disorders, clinical symptom, and oxidative stress in horticulture farmers exposed to organophosphate pesticides. Toxicol. Ind. Health 28, 90–96.
- Binukumar, B.K., Bal, A., Kandimalla, R., Sunkaria, A., Gill, K.D., 2010. Mitochondrial energy metabolism impairment and liver dysfunction following chronic exposure to dichlorvos. Toxicology 270, 77–84.
- Brookes, P.S., 2005. Mitochondrial H+ leak and ROS generation: an odd couple. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 38, 12–23.
- Carlson, K., Ehrich, M., 1999. Organophosphorus compound-induced modification of SH-SY5Y human neuroblastoma mitochondrial transmembrane potential. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 160, 33–42.
- Chan, J.Y., Chan, S.H., Dai, K.Y., Cheng, H.L., Chou, J.L., Chang, A.Y., 2006. Cholinergicreceptor-independent dysfunction of mitochondrial respiratory chain enzymes, reduced mitochondrial transmembrane potential and ATP depletion underlie necrotic cell death induced by the organophosphate poison mevinphos. Neuropharmacology 51, 1109–1119.
- Chishti, M.A., Rotkiewicz, T., 1992. Ultrastructural alterations produced in cockerels after mercuric chloride toxicity and subsequent interaction with an organophosphate insecticide. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 22, 445–451.
- Danial, N.N., Gramm, C.F., Scorrano, L., Zhang, C.Y., Krauss, S., Ranger, A.M., Datta, S.R., Greenberg, M.E., Licklider, I.J., Lowell, B.B., Gygi, S.P., Korsmeyer, S.J., 2003. BAD and glucokinase reside in a mitochondrial complex that integrates glycolysis and apoptosis. Nature 424, 952–956.
- Dikalov, S., 2011. Cross talk between mitochondria and NADPH oxidases. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 51, 1289–1301.
- Goel, A., Aggarwal, P., 2007. Pesticide poisoning. Natl. Med. J. India 20, 182-191.
- Hasan, M., Maitra, S.C., Ali, S.F., 1979. Organophosphate pesticide DDVP-induced alterations in the rat cerebellum and spinal cord — an electron microscopic study. Exp. Pathol. (Jena) 17, 88–94.
- Holmuhamedov, E.L., Kholmoukhamedova, G.L., Baimuradov, T.B., 1996. Non-cholinergic toxicity of organophosphates in mammals: interaction of ethaphos with mitochondrial functions. J. Appl. Toxicol. 16, 475–481.
- Jamshidi, H.R., Ghahremani, M.H., Ostad, S.N., Sharifzadeh, M., Dehpour, A.R., Abdollahi, M., 2009. Effects of diazinon on the activity and gene expression of mitochondrial glutamate dehydrogenase from rat pancreatic Langerhans islets. Pestic. Biochem. Physiol. 93, 23–27.
- Kalender, S., Kalender, Y., Ogutcu, A., Uzunhisarcikli, M., Durak, D., Acikgoz, F., 2004a. Endosulfan-induced cardiotoxicity and free radical metabolism in rats: the protective effect of vitamin E. Toxicology 202, 227–235.
- Kalender, Y., Kalender, S., Uzunhisarcikli, M., Ogutcu, A., Açikgoz, F., Durak, D., 2004b. Effects of endosulfan on B cells of Langerhans islets in rat pancreas. Toxicology 200, 205–211.
- Kalender, S., Ogutcu, A., Uzunhisarcikli, M., Acikgoz, F., Durak, D., Ulusoy, Y., Kalender, Y., 2005. Diazinon-induced hepatotoxicity and protective effect of vitamin E on some biochemical indices and ultrastructural changes. Toxicology 211, 197–206.
- Karami-Mohajeri, S., Abdollahi, M., 2011. Toxic influence of organophosphate, carbamate, and organochlorine pesticides on cellular metabolism of lipids, proteins, and carbohydrates: a systematic review. Hum. Exp. Toxicol. 30, 1119–1140.
- Kashyap, M.P., Singh, A.K., Siddiqui, M.A., Kumar, V., Tripathi, V.K., Khanna, V.K., Yadav, S., Jain, S.K., Pant, A.B., 2010. Caspase cascade regulated mitochondria mediated apoptosis in monocrotophos exposed PC12 cells. Chem. Res. Toxicol. 23, 1663–1672.
- Kaur, P., Radotra, B., Minz, R.W., Gill, K.D., 2007. Impaired mitochondrial energy metabolism and neuronal apoptotic cell death after chronic dichlorvos (OP) exposure in rat brain. Neurotoxicology 28, 1208–1219.
- Kirkinezos, I.G., Moraes, C.T., 2001. Reactive oxygen species and mitochondrial diseases. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 12, 449–457.
- Krauss, S., 2001. Mitochondria: Structure and Role in Respiration, eLS. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd (pp.).

Kroemer, G., 1999. Mitochondrial control of apoptosis: an overview. Biochem. Soc. Symp. 66, 1–15.

- Li, F.C., Tseng, H.P., Chang, A.Y., 2005. Neuroprotective role of coenzyme Q10 against dysfunction of mitochondrial respiratory chain at rostral ventrolateral medulla during fatal mevinphos intoxication in the rat. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1042, 195–202.
- Marchi, S., Giorgi, C., Suski, J.M., Agnoletto, C., Bononi, A., Bonora, M., De Marchi, E., Missiroli, S., Patergnani, S., Poletti, F., Rimessi, A., Duszynski, J., Wieckowski, M.R., Pinton, P., 2012. Mitochondria-ros crosstalk in the control of cell death and aging. J. Signal Transduct. 2012, 1–17.
- Masoud, A., Kiran, R., Sandhir, R., 2009. Impaired mitochondrial functions in organophosphate induced delayed neuropathy in rats. Cell. Mol. Neurobiol. 29, 1245–1255.
- Massicotte, C., Knight, K., Van der Schyf, C.J., Jortner, B.S., Ehrich, M., 2005. Effects of organophosphorus compounds on ATP production and mitochondrial integrity in cultured cells. Neurotox. Res. 7, 203–217.
- Middlemore-Risher, M.L., Adam, B.L., Lambert, N.A., Terry Jr., A.V., 2011. Effects of chlorpyrifos and chlorpyrifos-oxon on the dynamics and movement of mitochondria in rat cortical neurons. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 339, 341–349.
- Moreno, A.J., Madeira, V.M., 1990. Interference of parathion with mitochondrial bioenergetics. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1015, 361–367.
- Moreno, A.J., Serafim, T.L., Oliveira, P.J., Madeira, V.M., 2007. Inhibition of mitochondrial bioenergetics by carbaryl is only evident for higher concentrations – relevance for carbaryl toxicity mechanisms. Chemosphere 66, 404–411.
- Moshiri, M., Darchini-Maragheh, E., Balali-Mood, M., 2012. Advances in toxicology and medical treatment of chemical warfare nerve agents. Daru 20, 81.
- Mostafalou, S., Abdollahi, M., 2013. Pesticides and human chronic diseases: evidences, mechanisms, and perspectives. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 268, 157–177.
- Murphy, S.D., Porter, S., 1966. Effects of toxic chemicals on some adaptive liver enzymes, liver glycogen, and blood glucose in fasted rats. Biochem. Pharmacol. 15, 1665–1676.
- Oral, B., Guney, M., Demirin, H., Ozguner, M., Giray, S.G., Take, G., Mungan, T., Altuntas, I., 2006. Endometrial damage and apoptosis in rats induced by dichlorvos and ameliorating effect of antioxidant vitamins E and C. Reprod. Toxicol. 22, 783–790.
- Panahi, P., Vosough-Ghanbari, S., Pournourmohammadi, S., Ostad, S.N., Nikfar, S., Minaie, B., Abdollahi, M., 2006. Stimulatory effects of malathion on the key enzymes activities of insulin secretion in langerhans islets, glutamate dehydrogenase and glucokinase. Toxicol. Mech. Methods 16, 161–167.

- Pon, L.A., Schon, E.A., 2001. Mitochondria. In: Wilson, L., Matsudaira, P. (Eds.), Methods in Cell Biology. Academic Press, California, pp. 104–105.
- Radi, R., Turrens, J.F., Chang, L.Y., Bush, K.M., Crapo, J.D., Freeman, B.A., 1991. Detection of catalase in rat heart mitochondria. J. Biol. Chem. 266, 22028–22034.
- Ranjbar, A., Ghahremani, M.H., Sharifzadeh, M., Golestani, A., Ghazi-Khansari, M., Baeeri, M., Abdollahi, M., 2010. Protection by pentoxifylline of malathion-induced toxic stress and mitochondrial damage in rat brain. Hum. Exp. Toxicol. 29, 851–864.
- Saleh, A.M., Vijayasarathy, C., Masoud, L., Kumar, L., Shahin, A., Kambal, A., 2003. Paraoxon induces apoptosis in EL4 cells via activation of mitochondrial pathways. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 190, 47–57.
- Shabarchin, E.I., Kruglyakova, K.E., Gendel, L.Y., Kabanov, V.V., 1979. Influence of metaphos on the structuro-functional organization of mitochondrial membranes. Biol. Bull. Acad. Sci. USSR 6, 788–793.
- Shafiee, H., Mohammadi, H., Rezayat, S.M., Hosseini, A., Baeeri, M., Hassani, S., Mohammadirad, A., Bayrami, Z., Abdollahi, M., 2010. Prevention of malathioninduced depletion of cardiac cells mitochondrial energy and free radical damage by a magnetic magnesium-carrying nanoparticle. Toxicol. Mech. Methods 20, 538–543.
- Spetale, M.R., Morisoli, L.S., Rodriguez Garay, E.A., 1977. The effect of organophosphorus compounds on respiration by rat liver mitochondria. Farmaco. Sci. 32, 116–122.
- Venkatesh, S., Ramachandran, A., Zachariah, A., Oommen, A., 2009. Mitochondrial ATP synthase inhibition and nitric oxide are involved in muscle weakness that occurs in acute exposure of rats to monocrotophos. Toxicol. Mech. Methods 19, 239–245.
- Wani, W.Y., Gudup, S., Sunkaria, A., Bal, A., Singh, P.P., Kandimalla, R.J., Sharma, D.R., Gill, K.D., 2011. Protective efficacy of mitochondrial targeted antioxidant MitoQ against dichlorvos induced oxidative stress and cell death in rat brain. Neuropharmacology 61, 1193–1201.
- Xin, X., Zeng, T., Dou, D.D., Zhao, S., Du, J.Y., Pei, J.J., Xie, K.Q., Zhao, X.L., 2011. Changes of mitochondrial ultrastructures and function in central nervous tissue of hens treated with tri-ortho-cresyl phosphate (TOCP). Hum. Exp. Toxicol. 30, 1062–1072.
- Xu, W.N., Liu, W.B., Liu, Z.P., 2009. Trichlorfon-induced apoptosis in hepatocyte primary cultures of *Carassius auratus gibelio*. Chemosphere 77, 895–901.
- Yamano, T., Morita, S., 1993. Effects of pesticides on isolated rat hepatocytes, mitochondria, and microsomes. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 25, 271–278.
- Yen, D.H.T., Chan, J.Y.H., Tseng, H.P., Huang, C.I., Lee, C.H., Chan, S.H.H., Chang, A.Y.W., 2004. Depression of mitochondrial respiratory enzyme activity in rostral ventrolateral medulla during acute mevinphos intoxication in the rat. Shock 21, 358–363.